1971

Lee C. Felt, aka Lee Craig Felt v. Robert S. Felt : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action on an Order to Show Cause why the Respondent should not be held in contempt for failure to make alimony payments awarded to Appellant under a Divorce Decree and on Respondent's motion to modify the Divorce Decree respecting alimony payments.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court on the Order to Show Cause and Respondent's Motion to Amend Divorce Decree. Judgment in favor of Appellant was entered on the Order to Show Cause and Judgment against Appellant was entered on Respondent's Motion to Amend Divorce

Decree. From the Judgment against Appellant on Respondent's Motion, Appellant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Judgment against her on Respondent's Motion to Amend Divorce Decree and reinstatement of the original Divorce Decree.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Respondent were married at Salt Lake City, Utah, on the 17th day of September, 1949. On or about April 19, 1967, Appellant filed in the District Court of Salt Lake County a Complaint seeking a Decree of Divorce from Respondent on the grounds of mental cruelty. (AR 1)* In said Complaint Appellant also sought to be awarded an equitable portion of the assets accumulated by her and Respondent and sought a reasonable sum as alimony.

Appellant filed a Consent and Waiver on May 17, 1967, whereby she consented that the divorce hearing be held prior to the expiration of the 90-day waiting period. (AR 16) A Stipulation and Motion and an Entry of Appearance, Consent and Waiver were filed on May 17, 1967 for Respondent by and through his attorney, Mr. Grant C. Aadnesen, whereby Respondent acknowledged receipt of the Complaint and consented that the 90-day period be waived if the Court granted Appellant's motion. (AR 17) The hearing on Appellant's Complaint seeking a Decree

*References are to pages of Abstract of Record

of Divorce was set for May 17, 1967, before the Honorable D. Frank Wilkins, District Judge of the Third Judicial District.

Prior to the date set for hearing of Appellant's Complaint, the parties, by and through their respective counsel, negotiated and entered into a detailed Property Settlement Agreement on May 16, 1967. (AR 4) Said Agreement was 13 typewritten pages in length and indicated that the Appellant and Respondent had carefully considered its provisions as all assets of the parties were listed and divided Article II of the Agreement made provision for an alimony settlement. (AR 11) It was agreed that Respondent would pay to Appellant the sum of \$1,000 per month, payable on or before the first day of each month, commencing June 1, 1967. Respondent's obligation to pay was to cease upon his death or upon Appellant's death or remarriage.

It was further agreed in the Property Settlement Agreement that the alimony to be paid Appellant by Respondent was reasonable in view of the efforts made by Appellant in assisting Respondent in his professional education and in view of Appellant's present circumstances and social standing. The likelihood that Appellant would work and that her income would increase following the entry of the decree was expressly contemplated in the Agreement by both Appellant and Respondent and their counsel. The Agreement expressly provided in language not controverted that the alimony payments were not to be adjusted in the event of an increase in Appellant's income. Also, the Agreement provided that the alimony

payments were not to be adjusted notwithstanding increases or decreases in Respondent's income, unless substantial changes occurred such that Respondent was reasonably unable to pay the agreed alimony.

The hearing on Appellant's Complaint was held on May 17, 1967. Respondent did not appear at said hearing, he having previously filed an Entry of Appearance, Consent and Waiver. Appellant testified that she was familiar with the Property Settlement Agreement which had been filed with the Court and that she had read it, consulted counsel and signed the same. (AR 24) She declared her satisfaction with the division of assets and the alimony provisions. The Court inquired about the net worth of the parties after the Property Settlement Agreement and what each party would receive as a result of said Agreement. It was stated by Appellant's counsel that each party would receive between \$10,000.00 and \$15,000.00. (AR 25) The Court was aware of the alimony provisions of the Agreement and questioned Appellant and her counsel about the earnings of Respondent and whether there was a cut-off date on the alimony. (AR 25) The Court wisely inquired into the substance of what is the essence of this appeal, and relating to the Appellant's employment plans, the following exchange took place (AR 25):

“THE COURT: Do you work now, Mrs. Felt, or do you intend to?

THE WITNESS: I work part time. I do radio and TV commercials part time, and I hope to work again.

THE COURT: That wouldn't surprise me.

THE WITNESS: Oh, well, you are very kind.

THE COURT: So you can supplement your income, this one thousand, to some extent?

THE WITNESS: Yes.”

A Decree of Divorce was granted to Appellant on May 17, 1967, according to the terms of her Complaint, except where modified by the Property Settlement Agreement. (AR 19) Appellant was awarded certain properties and the sum of \$1,000 per month alimony, as provided in the terms of said Agreement, which was fully incorporated in the Decree of Divorce and declared to be fair and reasonable.

Respondent made the alimony payments required by the Divorce Decree during 1967 and 1968, but became delinquent in 1969. On October 7, 1969, Appellant filed a Petition For Order to Show Cause (AR 26) why Respondent should not be held in contempt of Court which resulted in a Judgment against Respondent in the amount of \$4,600, entered December 9, 1969. (AR 35) On November 14, 1969, Respondent filed a Motion to Amend Divorce Decree (AR 29) accompanied by his affidavit filed November 19, 1969 (AR 30), which alleged the following grounds in support of modification:

(1) He was prevailed upon by Appellant and counsel, both his and Appellant's, to consent to an alimony provision which was unreasonable and unfair.

(2) He had remarried since the divorce.

(3) The work load he had to maintain to meet the alimony payments was professionally inadvisable.

(4) His income had remained approximately the same but his professional and living costs had drastically increased.

(5) He had substantial indebtedness which he had not been able to reduce since the divorce because of the alimony payments.

(6) The Appellant had obtained full time employment whereas she was employed only part time at the time of the divorce.

(7) Appellant had substantial stock and investment plus properties received under the Divorce Decree.

(8) Appellant was in good health, employed and should not be dependent on him for her livelihood. She was well educated and qualified to earn a living.

Appellant filed a Reply to Defendant's Affidavit on November 21, 1969 (AR 32), whereby she opposed Respondent's Affidavit and Motion to Amend Divorce Decree. She contended that the Divorce Decree was entered in contemplation of the likelihood of her future employment and with knowledge of her education and training. Furthermore, Appellant argued that the Property Settlement Agreement which was incorporated in the decree provided that the alimony was not to be adjusted regardless of her income. Appellant denied that Respondent had been prevailed upon to sign the Property Settlement Agreement and generally denied the other allegations of Respondent. Various documents were

thereafter filed by both Appellant and Respondent in support of their respective positions.

Respondent again neglected to meet his obligation to pay alimony and was found to be in contempt of Court by a Judgment entered August 18, 1970 in the amount of \$8,000. (AR 38) Thereafter, by Order of the Court filed August 18, 1970 (AR 38), hearing was set for October 1, 1970 on an Order to Show Cause why Respondent should not be held in contempt for failure to pay alimony and hearing was set for the same date on Respondent's Motion to Amend Divorce Decree.

Following the hearing held October 1, 1970, the Honorable Gordon R. Hall, Judge of the Third Judicial District Court, issued a Memorandum Decision on November 5, 1970 (AR 60), finding Respondent in contempt of Court and modifying the alimony provision of the Divorce Decree by reducing it to \$1.00 per year. On December 3, 1970, Appellant, through her attorney, filed a Motion For a New Trial and To Amend Memorandum Decision. (AR 63) Hearing was held on Appellant's Motion January 18, 1971 and an Order Denying Motion for New Trial was entered on February 2, 1971. (AR 67) Also on February 2, 1971, the Honorable Gordon R. Hall entered an Order Modifying Divorce Decree and Respecting Contempt (AR 67) and filed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (AR 69) Appellant filed Notice of Appeal the 16th day of February, 1971. (AR 74) The content and grounds for the foregoing motions, orders and decisions will be discussed hereinafter.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY RE-EXAMINING THE BASES OF THE DIVORCE COURT'S AWARD OF ALIMONY AND BY MODIFYING SAID AWARD.

- A. THE TRIAL COURT IS REQUIRED TO GIVE THE ALIMONY AWARD OF A DIVORCE DECREE THE FINAL STATUS ACCORDED TO ANY CIVIL JUDGMENT AND HAS THE AUTHORITY TO MODIFY THE DECREE ONLY WHERE THERE HAS BEEN A SUBSTANTIAL OR PERMANENT CHANGE IN THE MATERIAL CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PARTIES SINCE THE DIVORCE DECREE.

The rules governing modification of the alimony portion of a Divorce Decree grant the Trial Court some discretion but do not permit re-examination of the evidence and modification at will. This Court recognized the foregoing principle in the case of *Sorensen v. Sorensen*, 20 Utah 2d 360, 438 P.2d 180 (1968), where it stated at page 181:

"Generally, the court is required to give such a decree the final status accorded to any civil judgment and to apply the doctrine of *res judicata* thereto. The parties should be entitled to rely on the finality of the alimony award in determining the right to receive and the duty to pay."

Although modification is permitted, as long as the decree stands, the husband must comply with it or make

every reasonable effort to do so, regardless of how the financial situation of his former wife may have improved. *Osmus v. Osmus*, 114 *Utah* 216, 198 P.2d 233 (1948).

With respect to the modification of divorce decrees, *Utah Code Annotated, Section 30-3-5 (Supp. 1969)*, provides:

“When a decree of divorce is made, the court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance of the parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable. The court shall have continuing jurisdiction to make such subsequent changes or new orders with respect to the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support and maintenance, or the distribution of the property as shall be reasonable and necessary.”

This statute has been construed to empower the Courts to modify an alimony award where there has been a substantial or permanent change in the material circumstances of either one or both of the parties since the decree was entered. *Sorensen v. Sorensen, supra; Anderson v. Anderson*, 13 *Utah* 2d 36, 368 P.2d 264 (1963); *Carson v. Carson*, 87 *Utah* 1, 47 P.2d 894 (1935). As more fully discussed hereinafter, however, the Courts may not consider events specifically contemplated by the Divorce Court and which served as the bases for the Divorce Decree and Property Settlement Agreement in determining whether there has been a change of circumstances. The party seeking modification must allege and prove a material and permanent change of conditions

since entry of the decree which would require under the rules of equity and justice, a change in the decree. *Hendricks v. Hendricks*, 91 *Utah* 553, 63 *P.2d* 277 (1936); *Carson v. Carson*, *supra*; *Rockwood v. Rockwood*, 65 *Utah* 261, 236 *P.* 457 (1925).

Where a party is dissatisfied with a divorce decree or feels the alimony award is excessive, his remedy in the absence of a permanent and material change in circumstances is to prosecute a timely appeal. Otherwise, the decree cannot be modified. In commenting upon the procedures available to accomplish modification of a divorce decree, this Court observed in *Cody v. Cody*, 47 *Utah* 456, 154 *P.* 952 (1916) at page 955:

“We do not think the Legislature intended that the courts should review the allowances made by them for alimony in divorce proceedings, but what was intended was that, where material new conditions have arisen after the decrees were made, which conditions were not, and could not have been, considered or passed on by the courts, then, upon proper application and proof, the courts may make ‘subsequent changes or new orders’ respecting the allowance of alimony or the distribution of property or the disposal of children. Where a party is dissatisfied with the original allowance or distribution of property, or the disposal of the children, he must prosecute a timely appeal to review the court’s orders or decrees in that regard, and in such cases the review must be had upon the evidence adduced upon the original hearing. When the conditions have changed, however, as before stated, the changes or new orders must be based upon the allegations of the

changed conditions and the evidence in support thereof.”

The principles espoused in the *Cody* case were subsequently reaffirmed by this Court in *Anderson v. Anderson, supra*. Thus, unless the Trial Court’s modification of the alimony award is founded upon a material and permanent change in the circumstances of the parties which has occurred since the entry of the Divorce Decree, the Trial Court exceeded its authority in modifying the alimony award.

B. THE TRIAL COURT’S MODIFICATION OF THE ALIMONY AWARD IS FOUNDED UPON A RE-EXAMINATION OF THE EVIDENCE UNDERLYING THE ORIGINAL DIVORCE DECREE AND A DETERMINATION THAT SAID DIVORCE DECREE WAS UNFAIR AND UNREASONABLE.

At the hearing on Appellant’s Complaint seeking a decree of divorce, the Court inquired into the pertinent circumstances of the Appellant and Respondent before granting the divorce. Appellant testified concerning her employment during the period of marriage and specifically during the time Respondent was completing his medical training. (AR 24) The Property Settlement Agreement which has previously been executed by the parties was before the Court and Appellant commented that she was satisfied with the division of assets and the alimony provisions. (AR 25) The Court inquired in the amount of assets each party would receive pursuant to the Agreement and asked whether there was a

cut-off date on the alimony provision. It was explained to the Court by Appellant's counsel that the alimony payments would terminate in the event of Appellant's death or remarriage, or if Respondent was unable because of a change in circumstances to earn the amount of money he was then earning, the alimony payments could be reduced. (AR 25) In response to further questions by the Court, Appellant and her counsel stated that Respondent's gross income was in excess of \$60,000 per year. (AR 25)

Following the hearing on Appellant's Complaint, the Court awarded Appellant a Decree of Divorce on May 17, 1967, which incorporated therein and adopted the Property Settlement Agreement as being fair and reasonable. Said Agreement was incorporated by the Court in its decree with full knowledge of the asset division, employment history and prospects of Appellant, alimony payment provisions and earning capacity of Respondent.

On or about November 14, 1969, Respondent filed a Motion to Amend Divorce Decree, accompanied by his affidavit setting forth eight grounds for modification. (AR 29) Although seven of the reasons set forth, which will be discussed hereinafter, may arguably be classified as alleging changed circumstances, the first reason calls for a re-examination of the original decree. Respondent alleged that at the time of the divorce, he was prevailed upon by Appellant, her counsel and his counsel to consent to an alimony award that was unreasonable and unfair at the time. (AR 30)

At the trial held on Respondent's Motion to Amend Divorce Decree, it is evident that the Court permitted the premises and fairness of the Divorce Decree itself to be examined. Respondent's counsel declared in his opening statement that he did not intend the Court to be confined to the matter of whether there had been a change of circumstances on the part of either party, but intended to show that the decree itself prescribed an unreasonable burden on the Respondent and was basically unfair and founded upon erroneous premises that should be examined. (AR 40) Appellant's counsel objected to any attempt to broaden the proceeding into an inquiry into the basic fairness of the decree, however, the Court indicated it did not intend to unnecessarily restrict Respondent. (AR 40) The Court admitted having some reservations about whether the scope of the hearing could be as broad as Respondent's counsel argued since there was a Property Settlement Agreement signed by the parties which had been adopted and approved by the Divorce Court. (AR 40) Nevertheless, the Court permitted Respondent's counsel to proceed as he had indicated.

Appellant was examined by Respondent's counsel, Mr. Hunt, and over objection of Mr. Burton, Appellant's counsel, Mr. Hunt questioned Appellant at length concerning her present earnings, living expenses, health and education. (AR 41) Appellant was also asked about her employment at the time of the divorce. (AR 42) On redirect examination by Mr. Hunt, Appellant further testified concerning her employment during her marriage

to Respondent. (AR 46) The Trial Court in permitting inquiry into Appellant's employment history prior to divorce, education, earnings and health, abused its discretion since these factors were before the Divorce Court and taken into account in entering the Divorce Decree.

Mr. Hunt next examined the Respondent and asked why he signed the Property Settlement Agreement which provided that the alimony payments were being made "in view of the efforts made by plaintiff in assisting defendant in his professional education." (AR 47) Mr. Burton objected on the grounds that the inquiry was entering the area of impeaching the Divorce Decree. (AR 47) In overruling Mr. Burton's objection, the Court again indicated its intention to be flexible as to the scope of questioning and admitted Mr. Burton's position may be correct. (AR 47) Respondent then testified as to the reasons why he signed the Agreement.

On cross-examination Respondent was questioned by Mr. Burton in regards to his allegation that he was prevailed upon by Appellant, her counsel and his counsel to sign the Property Settlement Agreement. Respondent admitted that he had discussed the terms of the Agreement with his counsel and specifically the alimony provision, and following said discussions had signed the same. (AR 51-54) He further declared that he had never discussed said Agreement directly with Appellant or her counsel and did not know what was meant by the statement in his affidavit that he was prevailed upon by appellant and her counsel to sign the Agreement. (AR 54-55)

Again, during cross-examination of the Appellant by Mr. Hunt, questions were directed to Appellant's employment and earnings in the initial years of marriage. She was also questioned concerning the sources of Appellant's and Respondent's support following his graduation from medical school. (AR 58) Further inquiry was made into the issue of who furnished the costs of Respondent's medical schooling. (AR 58)

At the conclusion of the testimony, Mr. Hunt reiterated Respondent's position in his closing argument that the Divorce Decree was unfair, that the Property Settlement Agreement should be re-examined, and the alimony reduced. (AR 60) Although Mr. Hunt included allegations that there had been a change of circumstances, the thrust of his argument was that the decree was unfair and almost a fraud upon the Court. (AR 60)

On November 5, 1970, the Trial Court entered its original Memorandum Decision in which Respondent was found in contempt of Court and the alimony award of the Divorce Decree was reduced from \$1,000 per month to \$1.00 per year. (AR 60) To support its modification of the alimony award, the Trial Court concluded that the Appellant was well qualified from an educational and experience standpoint in her chosen field of endeavor to adequately maintain herself, particularly in view of the fact that Appellant had changed from part-time to full time employment since the divorce. The Court stated further that the Property Settlement Agreement and the alimony award were based in part

on a recognition of Appellant's efforts to assist Respondent in obtaining his medical education and found her efforts to be substantial in this regard. The Memorandum Decision then stated:

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