1971

# Lee C. Felt, aka Lee Craig Felt v. Robert S. Felt : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AND NECESSARILY COMPARED CONDITIONS THEN, i.e., AT TIME OF DIVORCE, AND NOW IN REDUCING ALIMONY.

An alimony award is never quite final, but always subject to review and modification for good cause and changed circumstances.

If there is any factor well established in the Utah law respecting alimony, it is that the alimony decree is always subject to review for good cause shown.

In an early land mark case, *Buzzo vs. Buzzo*, 45 Utah 625, 148 Pac. 362, where original alimony was reduced without the wife's consent, she contending it was unchangeable being a consent decree and not only tied to a property settlement but payable out of real property, Judge Frick ably wrote:

“We have a statute (Comp. Laws 1907, section 1212) which provides that in case a divorce is granted the district courts of this state shall have the power to make such orders in relation to ‘the children, property, parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children as shall be equitable.’ It is further provided that ‘subsequent changes may be made by the court in respect to the disposal of children or the distribution of property, as shall be reasonable and proper.’ Waiving, for the purpose of this decision, the question of whether under said statute the courts may modify a decree for alimony wherein specific real property is decreed to the wife, or where a fixed lump sum is paid to her, yet where, as here, a sum is named in the decree of divorce, which is made payable monthly, *all courts agree that, under statutes like ours, the courts upon the application of either party have the power to change, modify, or revise such a decree, and whenever it is satisfactorily made to appear that the circumstances and conditions of the parties, or one of them, have changed so that the amount originally allowed is no longer just or equitable, the court may modify the same.*” (Citing many cases, New Hampshire, Wisconsin, California,) (emphasis added).

The court further said:

“We are of the opinion, however, that every decree of divorce and alimony must be deemed to have been entered subject to the provisions of section 1212, (predecessor of current code provision)

All courts agree that if it is provided in the decree itself, that it may be modified or revised in case the circumstances and conditions of the parties have materially changed the modification may then be made. . . . Now, we think that under statutes like ours the provision therein contained authorizing a change in modification, is as much a part of the decree as *though it were written into it*. (Emphasis added).

As if to emphasize the appropriateness of review in these matters, the alimony statute, 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, which, prior to the 1969 Amendment, read as follows:

“Disposition of property and children. — When a decree of divorce is made the court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable; provided, that if any of the children have attained the age of ten years and are of sound mind, such children shall have the privilege of selecting the parent to which they will attach themselves. Such subsequent changes or new orders may be made by the court with respect to the disposal of the children or the distribution of property as shall be reasonable and proper.

was, by said amendment, changed to read as follows:

“Disposition of property and children. — When a decree of divorce is made the court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable. *The court shall have continuing jurisdiction to make* such subsequent changes or new orders with respect to the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support and maintenance, or the distribution of the property as shall be reasonable and necessary. (Emphasis added),

the underlined words “The court shall have continuing jurisdiction to make . . .” being added. Granted the change was unnecessary as to continuing jurisdiction, our court having continuously and consistently, from the earliest cases reiterated the proposition. *Whitmore vs. Harding*, 3 Utah 121, 1 Pac. 465; *Reid vs. Reid*, 28 Utah 297, 78 Pac. 675.

In all of the alimony modification cases reviewed by this writer, when the modification was sustained by the appellate court, the method used by the trier of the fact, the trial judge, was similar to that used in the instant case, i.e., a review of the situation at time of divorce as against the circumstances of parties at time of motion for modification. Many of the reviews were exhaustive as in the instant case and as indicated in the *Slaughter v. Slaughter* case 18 Utah 2d 274, 421 P.2d 503, indeed, the trial court is obligated to inquire and review and familiarize itself with the circumstances (then and now), otherwise, how else could he determine what is “just and equitable” at a given time?

Indeed, the pattern of our Supreme Court is to affirm drastic revisions respecting alimony and support where the record indicates that the review is thorough and that the trial court rendered its modification based on a thorough understanding of all factors. This was illustrated by *Harrison vs. Harrison*, 22 Utah 2d 180, 450 Pac. 2d 456, where the Supreme Court affirmed a drastic revision upward in alimony and three years after the divorce decree split up a \$10,000.00 bank account.

*Gollegos vs. Stringham*, 21 Utah 2d 139, 442 Pac. 2d 30, albeit not a modification case but an ordinary appeal, comments on the latitude of the trial court—

“ . . . Due to the prerogatives and the advantaged position of the trial judge, he has a comparatively wide latitude of discretion in determining the rights and duties of the parties to a divorce in order to provide the most equitable and practical basis for them to readjust their lives in as happy and useful manner as possible. . . . This judgment should not be upset unless it appears that it works such an inequity or injustice, or places one of the parties in such an impractical situation that equity and good conscience demand that it be revised. We are not persuaded that he abused the discretion which is reposed in him in such matters.”

In *Slaughter vs. Slaughter*, 18 Utah 2d 274, 421, P.2d 503 (alimony appeal affirmed), this court commented on the type of review carried on by the trial court saying—

“ . . . It is our impression that the trial court has given *conscientious and judicious consideration* to the various factors appropriate to consider in such situations and has entered the decree which he deems just and equitable in the circumstances. See *Wilson v. Wilson*, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P.2d 977; *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, 120 Utah 573, 236 P 2d 1066; *Habbeshaw v. Habbeshaw*, 17 Utah 2d 285, 409 P 2d 972. We are not persuaded that he abused the broad discretion which is reposed in him in such matters.” (Emphasis added).

In the *Whitmore vs. Harding* case, 3 Utah 121, 1 Pac. 465, the court reviewed the eccleastical, chancery and legislative history of divorce and affirmed the continuing right of reviews of the then Third District Court over the previous decision of the then Probate Court citing the Territorial Statute Comp. Laws of 1852, Sec. 6, as providing, among other things—

“When a divorce is decreed, the court shall make such order in relation to the children and property of the parties and the maintenance of the wife and such portion of the children as shall be awarded to her, as may be just and equitable . . . provided further, that when it shall appear to the court *at a future time* that it would be for the interest of the parties concerned that a change should be effected in regard to the former disposal of children or distribution of property, the court shall have *power to make such change* as will be conducive to the best interests of all parties concerned.” Section 3 of ‘An act in relation to guardians,’ also in force at that time, provides: ‘When a divorce is decreed or obtained, such order in relation to the children and prop-

erty of the parties, and the maintenance of the wife, may be made as shall be deemed right and proper; *subsequent changes* may be made by the probate court or selectmen in those respects when circumstances render them expedient." (Emphasis added).

In *Reid vs. Reid*, 28 Utah 297, 78 Pac. 675, the Court cited and relied on the Whitmore case emphasizing that the trial court's action would not be set aside except for abuse of discretion and affirmed the trial court's decision and commented—

"Should appellant be thrown out of employment, or for any legitimate reason be unable to pay the amount now fixed by the court, the court may, in the exercise of its own judicial discretion under Section 1212 Rev. St. 1898 make such order in the premises as will be just and equitable to both parties."

The term "*just and equitable*" and the authority of the court on modification to make such changes as are just and equitable under the circumstances, the language used in the memorandum decision herein, is consistently and repeatedly found in a review of the Utah alimony modification cases.

In commenting upon the retention of jurisdiction, the Supreme Court made an interesting comment in *Bott vs. Bott*, 20 Utah 2d 329 437 Pac. 2d 684, as follows:

" . . . Under our statutes, the court retains jurisdiction of the parties to modify the decree with respect to the distribution of the property. Sec-

tion 30-3-5 UCA 1953, Doe vs. Doe, 48 Utah 200, 158 Pac. 781. *Especially should this be true where the parties voluntarily litigate a matter over which the court has jurisdiction.*" (Emphasis added.)

"(1-4) In reviewing the trial court's order in divorce proceedings there are certain well established principles to be borne in mind. The findings and order are endowed with a *presumption of validity*, and the *burden is upon the appellant* to show they are in error. Even though our constitutional provision, Section 9 of Article VIII, states that in equity cases this court may review the facts, we nevertheless take into account the *advantaged position of the trial judge*. Accordingly, we recognize that it is his prerogative to judge the credibility of the witnesses, and in case of conflict, we assume that the trial court believed the evidence which supports the findings. We review the whole evidence *in the light most favorable to them*; and we will not disturb them merely because this court might have viewed the matter differently, but *only if the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings*.

(5) For similar reasons, the trial court is allowed a comparatively *wide latitude of discretion* in determining what order should be made in such matters; and we will not upset his judgment and substitute our own *unless it clearly appears that the trial court abused its discretion or misapplied the law*. The following are a few examples of innumerable cases supporting the principles just stated: Slaughter v. Slaughter, 18 Utah 2d 274, 421 P.2d 503; Dahlberg v. Dahlberg, 77 Utah 157, 92 P.2d 214; Hendricks v. Hendricks, 91 Utah 553, 63 P.2d 277; Anderson

v. Anderson, 104 Utah 104, 138 P.2d 252; Allen v. Allen, 109 Utah 99, 165 P.2d 872; Alldredge v. Alldredge, 119 Utah 504, 229 P.2d 681, 34 A.L.R.2d 305 (1951); Pinion v. Pinion, 92 Utah 255, P.2d 265. (Emphasis added).

In *Whitehead v. Whitehead*, 16 Utah 2d 179, 397 P. 2d 987, (alimony appeal, affirmed), this court reiterated—

“Due to the prerogatives reposed in him under the law and to his advantaged position, the trial judge must necessarily be allowed a wide latitude of discretion in such matters, and his judgment should not be changed lightly, nor at all unless under the fact shown by the evidence it works a manifest inequity or injustice.”

If ever a court performed necessary surgery after exhaustive search and discovery, and effected a necessary modification in the interest of equity and justice, it is in the instant case.

## POINT II.

**THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND SUBSTANTIAL CHANGED CONDITIONS.**

**A. WIFE'S GOOD HEALTH, HIGH EARNINGS, ADMITTED LACK OF NEED, INVESTMENT POSITION, UTILIZATION OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING WARRANTED REDUCTION.**

Plaintiff argues that events specifically contemplated by the parties in the divorce decree cannot warrant change in alimony. In the first place the changes that have taken place could not have been contemplated. She was in poor health at the time of the divorce and in vigorous health at the time of Motion to Reduce alimony. Her income then was near non-existence and at the time of reduction, approximately \$8,500.00 per year plus the alimony plus consultation fees, plus investment income plus free lance advertising work. She was unemployed at the time of the divorce decree and with a bachelor's degree and thereafter obtained extensive training in television, radio advertising, etc., voluntarily abandoned a dependent position and status and became full time employed plus, vigorously utilizing her extensive education and training, hanging on to the alimony only to save for the rainy day (R. 301 L. 12).

These changes *could not have been contemplated* at the time of the decree.

Furthermore, the unwarranted language in the decree seeking to divest the court of future jurisdiction to change the same, with documents prepared by the plaintiff and only summarily read by defendant—

“A. Probably 10 minutes to read it.” (R-327, L 27)

could not divest the court of its power to exercise continuing jurisdiction. In *Callister vs. Callister*, 1 Utah 2d 34 261, Pac. 2nd 944, which was a proceeding to modify a decree based on an agreement and property

settlement arrangement to provide alimony for life, and in which the language was rather severe, the Court held that it did not thereby lose its right to make such modification or change thereafter as might be appropriate based on changed circumstances. The court said, page 37:

“It is generally held that under such a statute the court can modify a decree for alimony regardless of whether the decree was based upon an agreement of the parties.”

There the plaintiff was awarded \$400.00 per month during the life of the plaintiff or until her remarriage” and certain property was divided. Several years later plaintiff asked the court to reduce the alimony from \$400.00 to \$200.00 per month, alleging reduced income, \$1,000.00 to \$600.00 per month, health impairment, remarriage and a wife and child to support and necessity to abstain from activities producing physical or mental strain; also, the plaintiff, on the other hand, had rental income and income from investments and stocks and the trial court’s modification was affirmed.

In that case, the plaintiff, seeking to sustain the position that the alimony for life provision was a part of a property settlement division and, therefore, un-touchable in the future by the court cited various non-Utah decisions including California decisions respecting property settlement decrees. The Utah Supreme Court, in response, page 40, noted:

“A subsequent opinion by the Supreme Court of California, *Hough v. Hough*, 26 Cal. 2d 605,

160 P.2d 15, 18, clarifies and appears to set at rest the law of California relative to the issue here under discussion. It quotes with approval the following from 39 *Michigan Law Review* 128:

‘Assuming that the court has power by statute to modify a decree not based on contract, it would seem that in the view of most courts there is no sufficient reason to take the decree based on contract out of the operation of the statute as to the alimony provisions. That the interest of the state in the marital status and the dissolution thereof is sufficient reason to support such a view hardly seems to require demonstration. \* \* \* The obligation to pay alimony or support money to a divorced wife is one peculiarly justified by considerations of social desirability and generally prescribed as a consequence to dissolution of the marital relation. Being a continuing obligation, and being subject to scrutiny of the courts as to fairness and adequacy at its inception, it should so remain and the *contract of the parties should not be allowed to oust the court of power otherwise exercisable.*’ ” (Emphasis added).

The court in the Callister case further noted that (as in the instant case) the property was approximately equally divided and the alimony provision for life added. There as in the instant case plaintiff contended the court had erroneously reviewed the situation of parties and that the evidence did not support the trial court’s Findings nor Conclusions; however, this court found that the trier of the facts had properly reviewed income, work load, mental strain, income from stock and investments

etc., etc., etc., at the time of the divorce as against the time of the application for modification, same as in the instant case.

The general rule cited in plaintiff's brief, page 21, attributable to 18 ALR 2d 10, is apparently not the rule in Utah according to the Callister case where Judge Hoyt wrote, page 38:

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